Factors of Lobbying Success in the USA: Case of SOPA and PIPA (2011 - 2012)

by Yulia Isakova

Submitted to: Central European University Department of Public Policy

In partial fulfillment for the degree of Master of Arts in Public Policy

Supervisor: Professor Agnes Batory

Budapest, Hungary 2013

Abstract:

Technological progress of recent years has drammatically changed the political and information environment what has stimulated responsive shifts in political lobbying. This research investigates the aggregate of factors or aspects of lobbying that determine success of contemporary lobbying campaigns in the USA. This paper provides a case study, based on desk research of primary and secondary sources of information and imlementation of methods of qualitative research. The analysis reveals that there are four main categories of factors which significantly influence lobbying success in the USA: characteristics of the political system, features of a lobbying issue, characteristics of a lobbying group, and performance of lobbyists at particular stages of lobbying. This paper examines the impact of these factors in confrontation of lobbying coalitions around SOPA and PIPA in the USA in 2011 -2012. There is a wide consensus among scholars about the decisive role of digital technologies in the victory of the nti-copyright coalition. However, this research reveals that the above four categories of factors also pre-determined lobbying success of that coalition. Nevertheless, this paper confirms a predominant shift towards wide use of the Internet technologies in lobbying in the USA.

Key Words: lobbying, copyright, Internet technologies, SOPA, PIPA

Table of Contents

Abstract:	2
Table of Contents	3
Introduction	4
Chapter 1. Factors of Succesful Lobbying	8
1.1. Institutional Factors of Lobbying.	
1.2. Characteristics of an Issue	12
1.3. Characteristics of a Lobbying Group	12
1.4. Performance at Stages of the Lobbying Process	
Chapter 2. Case Study: Lobbying Confrontation over SOPA and PIPA	18
2.1. Political Background	
2.2. Introduction of SOPA and PIPA	
2.3. The Lobbying Parties	20
2.4. Development of the Lobbying Confrontation	22
Chapter 3. Influence of Factors of Successful Lobbying on the Lobbying	
Outcome	28
3.1. Institutional Factors of Lobbying	
3.2. Characteristics of an Issue	
3.3. Characteristics of a Lobbying Group	30
3.4. Performance at Stages of the Policy-Making Process	32
Conclusion	37
References	39

Introduction

Opportunities of different social groups to influence the political desicion-making process remains one of the central questions in many modern democracies. Political lobbying is one natural solution of political representation of diverse interest groups. Washington D.C. has become one of the most prominent center of lobbying. In the USA lobbying has become an integral part of the every-day policy-making process. Involvement of various interest groups in lobbying balances to some extent the policy-making process and allows different groups to promote their interests within the political agenda. However, as Berry (1997) noticed, the technological development of the recent years has provoked significant changes in political lobbying. Scholars (Kim and McCluskey 2009, Kim and Min 2008) argue that development of the electronic means of communications has dramatically changed the political environment and information space. This has led to the invention of new lobbying tactics and changes in a hierarchy of importance among the conventional lobbying methods. Additional factors began to influence lobbying outcomes and many lobbying groups faced a challenge to adjust to the changed lobbying environment. This leads to shifts in the balance of influence between different lobbying groups and changes in established public policies.

This thesis studies a clear illustration of the change in degree of influence between different interest groups through a case of lobbying on copyright in the USA in 2012. The lobbying confrontation unfolded over the two bills – the PROTECT Intellectual Property Act (PIPA) and the Stop Online Piracy Act (SOPA). The coalition of the intellectual property rights holders traditionally dominated the political arena but in 2011-2012 these groups ran into a decisive opposition from the civil liberties and the Internet industry groups. Results of that lobbying confrontation had ramifications on global development of the Internet and became widely known in the world.

Herman (2012), Sell (2010, 2013), and Bridy (2012) tracked the course of the lobbying confrontation and declared this event to be a turning-point in the history of

the copyright regulations in the USA. Scholars unanimously concluded that the anticopyright coalition won the confrontation due to an active usage of the Internet technologies and mobilization of masses via the Internet (Herman 2012, Sell 2013). The scholars also emphasized importance of extension of the anti-copyright coalition with the financially powerful Internet companies. Commentators in Washington Post (Wadhwa, 2012), Forbes (Downes, 2012), PCWorld (Gross, 2012), TPMIdeaLab (Franzen, 2012), MercuryNews (O'Brien) came to the same conclusion. However, the above authors have not conducted a complex analysis of key factors, which usually determine a lobbying success in the USA and also influenced the victory of the anticopyright coalition. This paper analyzes the reasons for the lobbying victory of the anti-copyright coalition in order to distinguish the factors which significantly influence lobbying success in the USA today. This research answers the question what key factors of lobbying mostly determined the lobbying success of the anticopyright coalition in the USA. The paper understands factors of successful lobbying as some aspects of lobbying environment in the USA and lobbying activities, which are absolutelly necessary or significantly contribute to achieving goals of any lobbying campaign.

This research provides a case-study on lobbying confrontation around SOPA and PIPA. This case has been selected as it represents a clear conflict of two powerful lobbying blocks in the recent history of the USA. During the confrontation, one side actively utilized the mobilization potential of the Internet, whereas the other party relied on its conventional lobbying strategies. This contrast allows for the possibility of analyzing what factors of lobbying the interest groups need to consider to increase their chances for success in the contemporary political environment. Finally, the case of SOPA and PIPA is broadly advertised as an important point for development of the public policy on protection of the intellectual property rights in the USA.

This study is based on desk-research with application of methods of a qualitative research. The paper analyzes contemporary theoretical literature on political lobbying and legal acts on lobbying in the USA for the purpose of distinguishing factors of successful lobbying in the USA. It identifies four types of factors, such as:

characteristics of the political system of the USA, features of a lobbying group, characteristics of a lobbying issue and performance of interest groups on crucial stages of the lobbying process, which significantly affect the lobbying outcomes in the USA. The paper examines the case of lobbying confrontation, using such primary sources of information as summaries of legal acts, official statements of politicians, and claims and letters of the involved interest groups. This research was based on such secondary sources of information as journal articles, reports of the American research centers, prominent American newspapers and materials of online media. Finally, this research applied the factors of successful lobbying, which were distinguished in the theoretical section, to the case study. This paper analyzed and compared lobbying approaches of the anti-SOPA/PIPA coalition.

However, the research method has few limitations. First of all, during the examination of the case study a part of information was unavailable. The scope of this research has not allowed to conduct interviews with representatives of the lobbying groups. Therefore, this research lacked primary source data on inside lobbying tactics of both sides and analyzed these tactics on the base of the publicly available information. Also, the research lacked precise information on lobbying expenses of both sides, as the official lobbying disclosure reports do not demand specification of spending on every lobbying issue. Secondly, the case-study approach has narrowed down a scope of possible application of findings of this research. The thesis conducted a comprehensive analysis of the lobbying case and distinguished robust patterns of contemporary lobbying success in the USA. However, analysis of more lobbying cases is needed to support the trends presented in this research.

This paper consists of three chapters. First, it examines theoretical aspects of successful lobbying in the USA and brings a genaral understanding of lobbying culture in the country. The second chapter represents the case-study on lobbying for and against SOPA and PIPA. The chapter provides the historical background of expansion of the copyright regulations in the USA, represents the lobbying parties and tracks the course of events in the lobbying confrontation. The third chapter analyzes

the reasons of lobbying success of the anti-copyright coalition in the case of SOPA and PIPA. The chapter evaluates aspects of lobbying approaches of the two sides according to the theoretical framework outlined in the first chapter. The paper expects to prove that the lobbying victory of the anti-copyright coalition on SOPA and PIPA was determined by a set of additional factors of lobbying success, besides the intensive mass mobilization via the Internet. Institutional characteristics of the political system of the USA, features of the lobbying issue and characteristics of the lobbying groups, performance of the sides on the key phases of lobbying also contributed significantly to the lobbying success of the anti-SOPA/PIPA coalition. The main findings and limitations of the research are restated in the conclusion.

Chapter 1. Factors of Succesful Lobbying

Lobbying is a natural part of the political process in the USA. The theory of political pluralism, formulated by Truman (1951) and Dahl (1961), has laid the understanding of the American democracy as interaction between different interest groups and public officials. In contradiction to Mills (1956), Carter (1964) the scholars emphasized that various groups can promote their interests within the policy-making process in the USA. Political pluralism has become the most prominent theory in the field in the 20th century. Later scholars addressed the explosive growth of interest groups and their roles in the American political system (Salisbury 1969, Walker 1983, Rothenberg 1988, Baumgartner and Mahoney 2004). Other researchers focused on inside lobbying strategies (Scholzman and Tierney 1986, Kollman 1998), outside lobbying (Kollman 1998, Goldstein 1999), coalition building (Hula 1995, Heinz et al. 1990), political action committees¹ (McCarty and Rothenberg 1996, Romer and Snyder 1994), targeting (Hall 1998, Hojnacki and Kimball 1998), issue-framing (McKissik, 1995). These aspects are important elements of successful lobbying in the USA.

Lobbying success is difficult to measure due to the absence of a universal scale of gradual measurement and secrecy of a part of the relevant information. Following Mahoney (2008) this paper measures success of a lobbying campaign by evaluating how lobbying outcomes correspond to the interests and stated goals of the lobbying groups. Success in lobbying is determined by numerous factors, often beyond the control of the interest groups. However, Wittenberg (1994), Berry (1997), Avner (2002), Mahoney (2008), Kim and McCluskey (2009) highlight several factors which are crucial for any successful modern lobbying campaign in the USA. The paper organizes these factors in four categories: influence of the American political system including legislature on lobbying, characteristics of a lobbying issue, features of an interest group, lobbying performance on the critical stages of the policy-making

¹ Political Action Committee (PAC) – an organization, which pools contributions from its members and directs the funds to political campaigns.

process.

1.1. Institutional Factors of Lobbying

Characteristics of the American political system influence lobbying activities by creating a specific lobbying environment. First of all, the principle of democratic accountability of politicians exerts a significant influence on lobbying in the USA (Mahoney 2008, Berry 1997). All the consulted literature agrees that the two chambers of Congress are the most prominent targets for lobbyists, as the Congressmen are formulating laws and rationing the national budget. The members of Congress are directly elected in the USA. The Congressmen always seek to maximize their political support and, therefore, are prone to take favorable by public political decisions. So, large representative groups have an advantage to be heard by the legislators. The interest groups use this political leverage to report opinions of the public they represent to the decision-makers. However, the scholars emphasize that the principle of private financing of election campaigns shifts attention of the Congressmen to the wealthier interest groups, which can provide politicians with more resources (Mahoney 2008, Avner 2002, Berry 1997, Wittenberg 1994).

The considered literature underlines that the executive branch is also an important political institution for lobbying the issues, which can be influenced by an administrative interference (Avner 2002, Mahoney 2008, Berry 1997, Wittenberg 1994). With time the White House has become more influential in the policy-making and now more lobbyists work to get access to these officials. However, appointment of administrators, except the President, is independent of public approval. Thus, the administrations are disposed to cooperation with lobbying groups only for the purpose of getting technical assistance and strengthening political positions of their agencies. The White House is selective in communication with lobbyists according to strategic political interests. Therefore, lobbying in the White House depends more on personal contacts (Berry, 1997). Finally, the interest groups apply to the courts in the most protracted and desperate cases when lobbying in other institutions does not work

(Avner 2002, Berry 1997, Wittenberg 1994). However, litigation is an expensive tactic in the USA (Berry, 1997). Therefore, a degree of democratic accountability of the American political institutions directs strategies of the lobbying groups.

Second, rules of the political decision-making process, to a large extent, determine potential success of lobbying (Mahoney, 2008). The course of the American legislative process provides lobbyists with many points of access to influence political outcomes (Mahoney 2008, Berry 1997, Wittenberg 1994). According to the summary of the legislative process provided by the Union of Concerned Scientists (2013), any member of Congress may initiate legislation and other Congressmen can become cosponsors of the bill. The proposal goes to a specialized committee or a subcommittee for detailed consideration and drafting of a bill. There the interest groups have opportunities to justify their positions on the proposal, promote amendments and, therefore, to influence decisions of the agency whether to report the bill to the floor of the House of Representatives or the Senate. In the chambers the Congressmen discuss the bill and introduce amendments. However, Senators can also bring irrelevant amendments. Any Congressmen can filibuster the bill or prevent voting on the bill by indefinitely extending the debates. In both chambers the bill can be put on an up or down vote. Then voting decision of the majority of the chamber members can withdraw a bill from consideration in the chamber. A bill has to pass consideration in both chambers of Congress and coordination of its versions from the two chambers. After the House of Representatives and Senate come to consensus the bill moves for a signature of President of the USA. The President can sign the bill, let it become a law or disappear automatically, or veto the bill. The legislators may override the Presidential veto with two thirds of votes in favor of the bill in both chambers of Congress (The Union of Concerned Scientists, 2013). Therefore, the interest groups may block passage of a bill at many stages of the legislative process. This reduces chances of successful promotion of a new law and makes the American political system reluctant to change. The American lobbying groups tend either to promote new proposals or to block them and are less oriented to modify bills. Therefore, the American system encourages a clear division between winners and losers among the lobbying groups (Mahoney 2008, Berry 1997).

Finally, compliance with the legal provisions on lobbying is another institutional factor of lobbying success in the USA (Wittenberg 1994, Avner 2002, Mahoney 2008). Today lobbying in the USA is regulated primarily by the Lobbying Disclosure Act (LDA) of 1995. According to Guidance to the LDA (Office of the Clerk, 2013), all lobbyists and lobbying firms have to register with Congress within 45 days since signing a lobbying contract or proceeding to work. All registrants must report their lobbying activities quarterly and lobbying firms - separately for each client. The reports are submitted electronically and must be available for public. In these forms lobbyists diclose their gross income per client or expenditures on lobbying. Also, the interest groups specify lobbying issues, the contacted public agencies, and names of the lobbyists. Every six months lobbyists, who remain officially active in the list of the Congress, submit lobbying reports. There they specify dates, contributions to public officials (if they exeed \$200), names of recipients, and established or sponsored political committees. In these reports lobbyists certify that they are aware of the lobbying regulations and have not violated them. The lobyists, who break the legal provisions on lobbying, are subject to a fine up to \$200,000 and/or up to five years of imprisonment (Lobbying Disclosure Act Guidance, 2013). Thus, lobbying activities are subject to some disclosure in the USA.

Behavior of public officials towards lobbying groups are also regulated. According to the Restrictions on former officers, employees, and elected officials, the former Senators can not lobby for an interest group for two years after resignation and the former Representatives - for one year. The former staff of Congress and the Execituve brunch must not lobby for a year after termination of their employment (The US Office of Government Ethics, 2013). By the House Rule 25 (Committee of Ethics of House of Representatives, 2013) and the Senate Rule 35 (Committee of Ethics of Senate, 2013) members and employees of Congress must not receive contributions from the registered lobbyists and participate in favoring events organized by lobbyists. Policy-makers may participate in travel, conferences, and charitable events sponsored by lobbyists if they are officially connected to their public duties. Public servants may accept gifts, food, and refreshments of nominal value from lobbyists, and gifts of value under \$250 from personal friends and relatives. Under the US Code, Lobbyists may contribute to election campaigns individually up to \$2000 and

maximum \$5000 per a PAC (the US Code, 2013). Therefore, the USA has extended regulations on interactions between public servants and lobbyists. Compliance with the established rules is a necessary condition for long-term and successful lobbying activities in the USA.

1.2. Characteristics of an Issue

Some features of a lobbying issue pre-determine to some degree the success of a lobbying campaign. Thus, lobbying for a large-scale issue reduces the chances for success of a particular interest group (Mahoney, 2008). A broad issue influences the whole political system, involves many groups in lobbying, and draws attention of masses. This makes policy-makers compromise all the crucial interests engaged. A similar logic can be applied to salience of an issue (Mahoney, 2008). However, increased issue salience significantly raises the likelihood of success for a part of the lobbying groups, usually lobbying to block the bill, due to the democratic accountability of the American policy-makers (Mahoney 2008, Wittenberg 1994). Also, competition between numerous counteracting interests impedes lobbying for a particular group. Thus, a higher level of conflict around the lobbying issue undermines chances for success for the lobbying groups (Mahoney, 2008). Thereby, a bigger scope, issue salience, and conflict of groups around the lobbying issue facilitate lobbying to block a new policy initiative.

1.3. Characteristics of a Lobbying Group

Some lobbying groups have more potential to succeed then others. Scholars confirm that lobbying groups with more financial resources in general have more power in Washington (Berry 1997, Wittenberg 1994, Mahoney 2008). The interest groups can transfer their wealth in winning support of politicians or allies, hiring professional consultants, implementing more lobbying tactics, and subsidizing election campaigns.

Second, reluctance of the American political system to change gives an advantage to the groups which lobby for a status quo (Mahoney, 2008). The type of group is another factor of lobbying success in the USA. Business lobbyists are more likely to succeed due to the overall orientation of policy-makers to the wealthier interest groups, their solvency to apply more lobbying tactics and tendency to lobby for status quo (Berry 1997, Mahoney 2008). A higher level of expertise on the issue increases chances of lobbyists to succeed as it allows them to strengthen arguments with empirical evidence (Wittenberg 1994, Berry 1997, Avner 2002). Finally, lobbyists must maintain their credibility to get access and ensure a long-term cooperation with policy-makers (Wittenberg 1994, Berry 1997). Therefore, lobbying groups have to meet several criteria to increase their chances for lobbying success.

1.4. Performance at Stages of the Lobbying Process

1. Lobbyists must professionally operate on the crucial stages of the decision-making process to achieve success in lobbying. First of all, it is crucial for them to formulate a lobbying issue correctly. An attractive definition may result in more support of politicians for the same subject. The issue needs to be narowly defined and feasible in the current political context (Avner 2002, Mahoney 2008). Lobbyists need to emphasize a broad public concern on the issue and positive political and economical ramifications of resolving the problem in the particular way (Mahoney, 2008). Wittenberg (1994) underlined that the message should be presented to the policy-makers in a very short and understandable manner. It should contain a maximum of factual information to look convincing (Berry, 1997). The interest groups should use technical arguments in combination with references to the public opinion (Wittenberg, 1994).

2. Second, a thought-out targeting or addressing public servants on the issue is a clear determinant of lobbying success (Avner 2002, Mahoney 2008, Wittenberg, 1994, Berry 1997). Access to the relevant policy-makers allows the interest to influence the internal processes of political decision-making. Without this access no lobbying

campaign is likely to be successful in the competitive lobbying environment of the USA (Berry, 1997). In the USA, affiliation to political parties does not strictly define the position of politicians. Policy-makers support issues depending their personal positions or preferences, interests of the state or district of their origin, and national interests. Therefore, it is not enough to target party leaders but important to convince heads of the relevant chamber committees (Mahoney, 2008). The primary target for lobbyists is the issue-friendly policy-makers; the second important group is undecided officials. But with growth of salience and scope of a lobbying issue the interest groups tend to address more decision-makers, including officials opposed to the issue (Mahoney, 2008). However, scholars emphasize the importance of establishing productive communication with staff of politicians and junior public servants from the working committees to increase probability of lobbying success due to sound targeting (Mahoney 2008, Wittenberg, 1994, Berry 1997).

3. Thereafter, active social networking and coalition building contributes to the probability of lobbying success due to the democratic accountability of the politicians (Mahoney 2008, Berry 1997, Wittenberg 1994, Avner 2002). Solid lobbying by multiple interest groups signals to decision-makers about a broad public support for the issue and inclines them to take a responsive stance toward the coalition position. Moreover, a coalition allows for the sharing of lobbying costs and the more efficient distribution of information, human, and financial resources. Lobbyists in the USA tend to form mainly ad hoc coalitions for a particular lobbying campaign (Mahoney 2008, Berry 1997, Avner 2002). However, they always seek to find allies, as joint efforts significantly contribute to lobbying success in the USA.

4. Subsequently, sophisticated implementation of various lobbying tactics appropriate to a lobbying issue is necessary for lobbying success. Scholars conclude that interest groups need to combine tactics inside lobbying and outside lobbying (Mahoney 2008, Berry 1997, Avner 2002). Inside lobbying implies personal communications between lobbyists and policy-makers in order to convince the officials to take a desired position on the issue (Mahoney 2008, Avner 2002). The most popular inside lobbying tactics in the USA are face-to-face meetings between lobbyists and public servants,

sending letters and position papers, strategic communication with members of working committees, suggesting drafts of pieces of legislature, and justification of the issue position on public hearings in the working committees (Mahoney, 2008). Due to the institutional framework, the American lobbyists tend mobilize broad coalitions and conduct fundraising campaigns instead of host dinner parties to influence decision-makers. Outside lobbying or grass-roots mobilization are activities directed to influence positions of decision-makers by pressure of public opinion (Mahoney, 2008). Lobbyists apply grass-roots strategies when a large proportion of population shares their interests (Goldstein, 1999). The most wide-spread outside lobbying strategies include attracting media coverage, mobilization of alien interest groups, publishing articles and op-eds in popular media, and mobilization of the general public (Mahoney 2008, Avner 2002). The more supporters lobbying groups have the more often they resort to outside lobbying. Outside lobbying is getting more important as an increased salience of the issue significantly contributes to the lobbying success in the USA (Wittenberg 1994, Mahoney 2008).

Wittenberg (1994) emphasized the importance of working with media to educate the public in the favorable direction and raise the issue salience for successful lobbying in the USA. The American single-language media quickly communicates news to the general public. This maintains the political environment when the policy-makers know that their actions will be reported to their electorate and the interest groups can effectively mobilize the public for a political pressure campaign (Mahoney 2008, Berry 1997). A larger authoritativeness and objectivity of the alien media intensifies outcomes of the information campaign (Kim and Min, 2008). Development of the electronic means of communication has changed the media environment and facilitated mass mobilization for the interest groups (Kim and McCluskey 2009, Kim and Min 2008). The Internet speeds up communications, reduces costs of information dissemination, and gives influence opportunities to the less established groups. Most important, the Internet technologies make communication between lobbying groups, the public, and policy-makers more interactive. They allow lobbyists to directly address the public and receive immediate feedback and mobilize broader groups of initial supporters and the latent like-minded people in lobbying campaigns (Kim and McCluskey 2009, Kim and Min 2008). The larger the scope of the lobbying issue, the

more salient it is to the public. And the higher the level of conflict is, the more tactics of inside and outside lobbying interest groups need to apply (Mahoney, 2008).

5. Finally, lobbyists need to continuously monitor the situation around the issue and support it at all stages of the decision-making process (Wittenberg 1994, Berry 1997, Avner 2002). It is crucial for lobbyists to earnestly represent their positions at public hearings at committees of Congress as further political debates are based on the proposal shaped in the committee (Wittenberg 1994, Berry 1997). The lobbyists need to monitor discussions and voting at every institution within the decision-making process and be ready to compromise on less critical aspects of the proposal with the opponents. Lobbyists need to continuously and quickly provide policy-makers with expert information support, and simultaneously shape a favorable public attitude to the issue. This creates an interest and some dependence of public servants on cooperation with lobbying groups (Wittenberg 1994, Berry 1997). Therefore, only uninterrupted, competent, and intensive lobbying work can lead to a lobbying success.

To sum up, characteristics of the American political system, regulations on lobbying, characteristics of an issue and a lobbying group, and competent performance at critical stages of the lobbying process influence lobbying outcomes. Some of these factors are independent from efforts of the lobbying groups and initially put them at advantage or disadvantage. However, every lobbying campaign is a unique story, determined by numerous additional factors and coincidences. This paper considers the case of lobbying for and against the Stop Online Piracy Act and the PROTECT Intellectual Property Act.

CEU eTD Collection

Chapter 2. Case Study: Lobbying Confrontation over SOPA and PIPA

2.1. Political Background

Legal protection of intellectual property (IP) has become a prominent issue in public policy debates in the USA. Herman (2012) and Sell (2010, 2013) tracked historical development of the IP rights regulation in the USA and came to conclusion that the IP rights holders, including the TV, movie, music industries, print publishers, software producers, etc. traditionally dominated in the policy-making process. These groups promoted strengthening of the copyright regulations as they faced a threat to their welfare from the increased free sharing of the copyrighted content. The counterweight camp, consisting of NGOs, librarians, and academics, advocating freedom of speech and access to information, was politically insignificant until the 21st century.

According to Herman (2012) and Sell (2010, 2013), the political struggle began in the 70's when the IP rights holders brought provisions on IP rights into a trade policy of the USA. Since the 1990's the rights holders groups were present on the highest levels of the economic decision-making in the USA and had multiple ties with Congress. Policy-makers heavily relied on the groups' expertise and strengthened regulations on the IP rights. The lobbies expanded copyight regulations on the Internet sphere by promotion of the Digital Millenium Copyright Act of 1998. The act baned circumvention and actions which might facilitate the circumvention of the IP rights in cyberspace. But the bill stipulated impunity of the Internet service providers for actions of the Internet users. Debates over the act resulted in the rise of the anti-copyright camp but the copyright interests continued to dominate.

Herman (2012) and Sell (2013) continued that since 2010's the copyright groups have been promoting norms on seizing domain names of the websites² which violate

² The seize of domain name of a website implies blocking Internet access to this website and redirecting users other web-pages, which often encourages law-abidance.

copyright. In 2010 senator Patrick Leahy introduced the Combating Online Infringement and Counterfeits Act, which prescribed court actions against the websites devoted to copyright infringement. The courts could seize the domain name of the websites and oblige the Internet service providers to stop operations and block users' access to these websites. Discussion of the bill in Congress was scheduled on 2011. But the US Department of Immigrations and Customs Enforcement started seizing domain names of websites, often mistakenly. This caused immediate protests from the anti-copyright groups and the Internet companies started to lean more towards this coalition. However, the Congressmen, closely cooperating with the copyright lobbyists, supported the idea of such a law. This has led to introduction of the Stop Online Piracy Act and the PROTECT Intellectual Property Act into Congress (Herman, 2012).

2.2. Introduction of SOPA and PIPA

On October 26, 2011, Representative Lamar Smith brought the Stop Online Piracy Act (SOPA) into the U.S. House of Representatives. The goal of the bill was to "promote prosperity, creativity, entrepreneurship, and innovation by combating the theft of U.S. property, and for other purposes" (H.R. 3261, Govtrack). Among other provisions the bill empowered the Attorney General to initiate proceedings against foreign websites which engaged in, enabled, or facilitated infringement of intellectual property rights. The language of SOPA was ambiguous (Forbes 2012, Herman 2012, Bridy 2012). It implied punishment for any website which seemed to be facilitating copyright infringement, therefore, websites with the user-generated content could be potentially shut down.

According to section 102 of SOPA, filing a complaint on a website would empower the court to force the Internet providers to block access of American users to the accused website and search engines to remove references to this web-sites from their databases (H.R. 3261, Govtrack). The Internet advertisement providers and payment operators would have to stop their services on these websites. The actions had to be taken within 5 days after the Attorney's order. Moreover, Internet content providers like Google or Facebook would have to apply the Domain Name System filtering to identify the violating copyright websites and to report them to the Attorney General. The bill stipulated punishment of a fine up to \$2mln or imprisonment up to 10 years for any violator of the copyright regulations. Appeals to these actions could be examined afterwards in court (Bridy 2012, Connolly 2012).

Earlier, in May 12, 2011, Senator Patrick Leahy introduced the Preventing Real Online Threats to Economic Creativity and Theft of Intellectual Property Act (PIPA) in Congress. The purpose of the bill was "to prevent online threats to economic creativity and theft of intellectual property, and for other purposes" (S. 968, Govtrack). The Senate's version was very similar to SOPA but targeted only the websites which were dedicated mainly to copyright infringement. It authorized the Attorney General for the same actions but did not demand removal of references to the accused websites from the search engines. In contrast to SOPA, this bill did not contain penalties for willful misrepresentation of activities of websites (Connolly 2012, Herman 2012, Bridy 2012). Despite the earlier introduction, PIPA was obscured by the lobbying confrontation of two coalitions around SOPA.

2.3. The Lobbying Parties

Introduction of PIPA and SOPA resulted from lobbying efforts of the IP rights holders: copyright associations, TV, movie and music industries, some software producers, media outlets and book publishers, aligned with pharmaceutical groups and trademark-dependent companies (Israel, 2012). The Motion Picture Association of America, the Recording Industry Association of America, and the United States Chamber of Commerce led the coalition (Kang, 2011). Thus, the promoting coalition united multiple influential interests on the political stage of the USA and included up to 142 groups (Smith, 2011). The allies were driven by the traditional financial interest to decrease economic losses from the increasing public circumvention of copyright and distribution of counterfeit goods on the Internet. Their second motive was a rightful fight against scaled theft of the American intellectual property in the

foreign sectors of the Internet (Sherman, 2012).

The copyright coalition had long-term and well-established lobbying ties in important agencies in Washington. They often resorted to services of former public officials. The IP Enforcement Research Database identified 68 of such cases (American University Washington College of Law, 2013). For instance, the former Senator Chris Dodd represented the MPAA. The past Director of Federal Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, Bill Buckles and the former Chief Counsel in the Courts and IP Subcommittee of the House Judiciary Committee, Mitch Glazier, worked for the RIAA. Marla Grossman, the former counsel for the Senate Judiciary Committee worked for Viacom. The past IP counsel for the Senate Judiciary Committee, Troy Dow, represented Disney (Martinez, 2011). Therefore, the copyright camp was a strong actor on the American political stage and expected to succeed in promotion of PIPA and SOPA.

However, introduction of the bills mobilized an unexpectedly strong opposition. Initially it consisted of those traditionally involved in resistance to copyright expansion forces: human rights NGOs (Public Knowledge, Fight for the Future, Electronic Frontier Foundation, Consumer Electronic Association, etc.), librarians (American Library Association, etc.), academics, some media (Reddit, Wikipedia, etc.) and Internet activists. These groups strongly opposed the bills advocating the human right to free access to information, protested against technological rigidity of the bills, and their poor fit with the established legal framework (Smith 2011, McSherry 2011, Brigham 2011). At a critical juncture the search engines (Google, Mozilla, Yahoo, BoingBoing) and prominent Internet companies (Facebook, eBay, Amazon, Twitter, Aol, etc.), united in the NetCoalition, joined the opposition. These interest groups had accumulated impressive economic powers and represented the broad Internet audience. The bills significantly affected their financial interests and business models of future development but the promoting groups were reluctant to adjust the bills to these concerns (Plumer, 2012). The SOPA/PIPA would oblige them to develop technologies and continuously police the cyberspace. Work of many web platforms with user-generated content would be endangered. Altogether the AntiSOPA/PIPA coalition included up to 222 interest groups (Wikipedia, 2012).

Members of this lobbying camp had less developed but also influential ties with Washington. For example, a former chairman of the Federal Communications Commission in the Government, Red Hundt, represented Public Knowledge (Public Knowledge, 2013). The former Representative Susan Molnar, the past counsel to Senator John McCain, Pablo Chavez, the former Senate Judiciary Committee chief, IP counsel Ryan Triplette, etc. were lobbying for Google (Google Inc. 2012, Weisman 2012). The former head of the staff of a member of the Senate Juduciary Committee, David Hantman, represented Yahoo (Martinez, 2011). Therefore, the tech companies had significantly increased the lobbying power of the coalition.

2.4. Development of the Lobbying Confrontation

The coalition of copyright holders took a political initiative. They encouraged Democrat Patrick Leahy, head of the Senate Judiciary Committee, to introduce the PROTECT Intellectual Property Act in the Senate in May 2011. The recording studios provided policy-makers with the arguments that growing copyright infringement on foreign web-sites has lowered music sales in the USA to the amount of less than half from the sales in 1999 and the direct employment in the industry has decreases for 50% to only 10,000 employees (Sherman, 2012). The Motion Picture Association promoted information through the United States Government Accountability Office that annually the industry loses \$58 bln, the economy loses 373,000 jobs and \$3 bln of taxes (GAO 2010, MPAA 2011). The lobbyists argued that piracy and counterfeit undermine brand value and incentives for creativity in the industry worsen the whole economy of the USA. 16 Senators became co-sponsors of PIPA (S. 968, Govtrack). In two week after introduction, members of the Senate Judiciary Committee unanimously voted at the hearings to report PIPA to the floor of the Senate (Verrier, 2011).

The civil liberties groups, traditionally involved in resistance to expansion of copyright, expressed to Congress their opposition. A group of law professors argued that provisions of the bill contradicted the previous legal regulations on the copyright, violated the First Amendment to the Constitution due to possible over-blocking in the Internet and empowered interference in business on insufficient grounds (Lemley, Mark A. et al., 2011). Civil liberties groups stressed that PIPA would promote censorship, and violate freedom of speech and access to information in the Internet (Downes, 2012). The Internet technologies groups pointed out that such legal provisions risk breaking the architecture of the Internet (Aol Inc. et al., 2011). Senator Ron Wyden, the traditional opponent of the copyright expansion, placed an official hold on discussion of PIPA in the Senate, repeating arguments of the opposition (Wyden, 2011). However, the Senate vote on PIPA was a clear victory of the copyright coalition and PIPA seemed to pass the stages of the legislative process quickly (Herman, 2012).

In October 2011, the head of the House Judiciary Committee, Republican Lamar Smith, together with 12 co-sponsors introduced a companion to PIPA - the Stop Online Piracy Act in the House of Representatives. Hearings on SOPA at the Judiciary Committee were scheduled on November 16, 2011 (H.R. 3261, S. 968, Govtrack). Five members of the promoting coalition, including the Motion Picture Association, the American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organizations, and Pfizer received invitations to justify their positions at the hearings. But no civil liberties groups and only one representative from Google were invited from the opposite camp. Google was involved in copyright litigations on its own, therefore, the pushing coalition could assure that the corporate opposition was limited (McCulgan, 2011). The anti-copyright groups, and especially the Internet engineers, widely protested against introduction of the bills without consultation with them on technical issues (Plumer, 2011). Thereby, the anti-SOPA/PIPA groups were steadily losing in the beginning of the lobbying confrontation.

Before the hearings the opponents of the bills mobilized. The Internet companies officially joined the coalition (McCulgan, 2011). To support Google at the hearings

the Internet companies sent a joint letter to Congress calling upon them to keep the Internet architecture non-disturbed (Aol Inc. et al., 2011). The Internet companies emphasized that SOPA/PIPA stipulated unfair unilateral liabilities and costs on Internet service providers to monitor the cyberspace and violated their legal impunity for the user-generated content (NetCoalition et al., 2011). They underlined a dynamic growth of the Internet industry but warned that the bills could stagnate economic development and innovations in the industry. The groups also stressed that those costs would suppress smaller websites and impede start-ups (Plumer, 2011).

The anti-copyright coalition also strengthened their inside and outside lobbying efforts. The civic groups were sending numerous protest statements to Congress. Also, the lobbyists tried to persuade the Congressmen to reject SOPA in personal encounters. As a result, a day before the hearings, ten Representatives circulated a letter urging other Congressmen to oppose SOPA (Anna G.Eschoo et al., 2011). In addition, the coalition members started a massive information campaign against SOPA and PIPA (Electronic Frontier Foundation 2011, Wikimedia 2011). They were continuously posting information and arguments against the bills on the Internet to raise awareness and educate public on the issue. The allies framed and represented their protests under the slogan "Stop Censorship" (Sell, 2013) On the eve of the hearings some Internet companies bought full-page advertisements in printed newspapers urging the Congressmen to vote against SOPA (Kang 2011, Melvin 2011).

At the day of the hearings the coalition carried out an online protest action "American Censorship Day". The interest groups blacked out logos and put "Stop Censorship" banners on their websites. The coalition encouraged the public to learn more about SOPA and express their opinion to Congress (Fight for the Future, 2011). Over 70 interest groups, including BoingBoing and Mozilla, participated (Frazen, 2012) in the blackout. The campaign involved over 6000 web-sites, generated over 80000 phone calls to Congress and about 2mln Internet users signed an online petition against SOPA (Fight for the Future(2), 2012). Consequently, adherence of the Representatives to the bills was shaken and on the next day the first Representative,

Nancy Pelosi, stated her opposition to SOPA (Nancy Pelosi, 2011).

However, the copyright coalition continued to dominate over opinions of the Congressmen. The hearings revealed support of 31 Representative (Fight for the Future(2), 2011). The hearings protocol reflected an overall favorable attitude of the Representatives to SOPA (Committee on the Judiciary, 2011). Moreover, the SOPA proponents headed by the Committee chairman Lamar Smith accused Google of advocating piracy for the sake of self-serving financial interests (Anderson, 2011). Ultimately, the Committee programmed a markup session on SOPA on December 15, 2011. The copyright coalition won in another round of the lobbying confrontation.

Apparently, before the markup session both lobbying camps continued intensive lobbying as the amount of the Congressmen, responsive to the both sides, increased (Sell, 2013). Before the markup session the anti-copyright coalition published provisions of alternative to PIPA - the Online Protection and Enforcement of Digital Trade Act (the OPEN Act). The bill prescribed prevention of financial flows to the accused web-sites after decision of the US. International Trade Comission. But other Internet service providers were exempt from the reactive actions (S. 2029 Govtrack, Forbes, 2012). During the markup session a small group of SOPA opponents unleashed exhaustive debates and introduced over 20 amendments to the bill. In total, the opposition proposed more then 60 amendments to SOPA. Some amendments implied the removal from SOPA the provisions, which conflicted to the interests of the leading the anti-copyright coalition Internet corporations. But most of the Congressmen did not understand the technical side of the debates (Petri 2011, Gross 2011). On the recommendation of the copyright lobbyists the Committee rejected all amendments and the idea of organization of another hearings with presentations of the Internet engineers by a wide margin (Grant, 2011). The copyright lobbyists kept support of more Congressmen (Herman, 2012). But the opponents protracted the debates and the Committee had to adjourn the session with a plan to resume discussions in 2012 (Tsukayama, 2011). Immediately after the markup session, Ron Wyden and three co-sponsors introduced the OPEN Act into the Senate but the copyright groups ensured block of the proposal on the level of committee (S. 2029,

Govtrack). In turn, Lamar Smith published on the House Judiciary Committee a list of 142 supporting SOPA organizations on December 22, 2011 (Smith, 2011). SOPA seemed likely to reach the voting in the House of Representatives and the Senate vote on PIPA was planned on January 24, 2012 (Falcon, 2012). Thus, the situation continued to develop not in favor of the anti-copyright coalition.

Then, the lobbying opposition doubled its efforts in raising public awareness and mobilization around the issue. On December 22, 2011 the coalition launched a boycott of the prominent SOPA supporter GoDaddy by refusing services of the company. This made GoDaddy.com abandon support of SOPA (GoDaddy.com, 2011). The list of the organizations supporting SOPA/PIPA started to decline (Weisman, 2012). On January 14, after a meeting with representatives of Google and Facebook, the White House Administration stated its opposition to the bills in their current wording (Espinel et al., 2012). The opposition planned a scaled public online campaign on January 18, 2012. In advance, Wikipedia engaged users in a direct discussion of necessity of this action. Many popular web-portals and media including Reddit, BoingBoing, Mozilla, WordPress, etc. also popularized the action among the public beforehand (Franzen, 2012). On January 18, according to Fight for the Future (2012), more then 115,000 websites participated in the protest against SOPA/PIPA. Some websites, including Wikipedia, Reddit, Mozilla, etc. went offline for 24 hours. Some put a black splash screen on their main pages. The web-companies encouraged users to blackout personal web-pages as well. The coalition members posted their arguments on the blacked out websites, provided the contact information for users to write or call to Congress. Google launched an online petition, which collected 4.5 mln signatures (Netburn, 2012). In total, Congress received more then 4mln emails, over 8mln of call attempts, more then 10mln users signed different petitions against the SOPA (Fight for the Future(3), 2012). In five cities SOPA opponents went to street demonstrations (Colleen, 2012). This anti-SOPA strike had become the largest online protest in the world (Herman, 2012).

The campaign dramatically changed balance between the lobbying camps. According to ProPublica, by January 18 there were 80 supporters and 31 opponents on the

SOPA/PIPA in Congress. After the strike there were only 65 in favor and 101 opinions against. There appeared a new group of 41 Congressmen leaning to oppose the bills and some politicians pledged not to vote in support of the bills until they would be significantly revised (Nguyen, 2012). On January 18, Representative Issa and 25 co-sponsors introduced the OPEN Act in the House of Representatives, however, the bill has never been discussed (H.R. 3782, Govtrack). The copyright coalition responded by a media compaign on TV and in major newspapers accusing the opponents of being irresponsible and disseminating false fears (Franzen 2012, Gross 2012). The MPAA lobbyist Chris Dodd publically threatened to stop supporting election campaigns of the politicians who had not supported the bills (FoxNews.com, 2012). Nevertheless, after these events the Senate Majority Leader, Harry Reid, and Representative Lamar Smith had to officially postpone consideration of the bills and later SOPA and PIPA automatically vanished (Martinez, 2012).

Therefore, that round of lobbying confrontation on the copyright issue was over. It required a great amount of lobbying efforts, and attracted much attention of politicians, media, and public. But also, it marked a new phase in the history of lobbying confrontation between supporters and opponents of strengthening regulations on copyright in the USA.

Chapter 3. Influence of Factors of Successful Lobbying on the Lobbying Outcome

Observers recognize the outcomes of the lobbying confrontation around SOPA and PIPA as a stunning success of the anti-copyright coalition (Sell 2013, Herman 2012). These groups achieved their primary goal to kill the bills whereas the promoting groups were defeated. This paper examines the factors, which had led to the lobbying victory of the anti-copyright coalition. Besides the fortunate turn of events, such factors as: characteristics of the American political system, features of the lobbying groups and the issue, and the groups' lobbying performance influenced outcomes of that lobbying confrontation.

3.1. Institutional Factors of Lobbying

The democratic accountability of the America Congress was one of the crucial factors that determined the lobbying success of the anti-SOPA coalition. The aggregate of the interest groups involved in the lobbying confrontation decisively affected positions of the Congressmen. On one hand, the pro-legislature business groups significantly overspent their opponents on lobbying. Before the SOPA/PIPA confrontation, the overwhelming majority of the Congressmen had received donations to their election campaignes from the both sides (Nguyen, 2012). But, according to ProPublica (2012), the content industries made larger donations to a bigger number of the current Congressmen in comparison with the Internet companies. According to a non-partisan analytical group Maplight, the current Senators have gained \$14.4mln from the entertainment groups and \$2mln from the Internet groups (Martinez, 2011). Therefore, the record of financial contributions persistently inclined the Congressmen to support the copyright coalition. However, the anti-copyright groups seemed to be more supported in the White House. In 2008, employees of Google and Microsoft constituted the 4th and 5th largest contributors to the Obama's presidential campaign. The employees of Time Warner made the 8th largest donations. In the 2011 re-election

campaign Google was the 5th and Time Warner the 10th supporter of Obama (Martinez, 2011). But certainly, over time, the copyright lobbyists had invested much more in campaigns of politicians and, therefore, accumulated more protective attitude in the American political institutions.

But on the other hand, the policy-makers tended to be responsive to the interests of the population and this benefited the anti-copyright coalition. The anti-SOPA/PIPA camp was more representative as it consisted of more diverse public advocacy and business groups. In addition, the anti-copyright coalition was larger, consisting of 220 groups, in comparison with 140 groups of the promoting coalition. Moreover, the bills opponents made the copyright coalition shrink to 125 organisations (Wikipedia, 2012). In general, the anti-copyright camp received direct support of 10mln Internet users within 24 hours on January 18, whereas the copy-right industries only argued about thousands of employees they represented. This signalled to the Congressmen about a prevailing public attitude to the bills and the desirability to drop support of the unpopular bills. In addition, the anti-SOPA/PIPA coalition convinced the White House to stand against adoption of the bills in their current wording. This gave the opponents of the bills significant political support and influenced opinions of the Congressmen.

The established rules of the decision-making process in the USA also worked to the advantage of the anti-copyright coalition. Apart from the lost opportunity to lobby against PIPA at initial stage of its consideration in Congress, the opposition camp had access to all phases of discussions on SOPA to block both bills. The efforts of the copyright coalition to restrict access of the adversaries to the hearings on the SOPA had a tangible but limited effect. According to the publicly available information, both lobbying sides acted within the law on lobbying in the USA. Thus, despite the settled tradition of expansion of the copyright law in the USA, the structure of the decision-making process benefitted those groups which lobbied for preservation of the status quo or tabling the bills.

Therefore, the factor of bigger representativeness of the anti-copyright block, support

of the executive branch, and reluctance of the American political system to changes overrode the factor of financial interest of the Congressmen in support the content coalition.

3.2. Characteristics of an Issue

The nature of the lobbying issue benefited both lobbying forces but in different way. Both coalitions emphasized a large scope and far-reaching ramifications of the copyright infringement problem in the USA. Initially this strengthened the position of the promoting groups. In the beginning the issue was not so controversial and the well-established political ties of the content holders prevented policy-makers from detailed consideration of the opposing arguments. Intensification of lobbying confrontation between the two camps worked against the pro-legislature groups. Then the increased salience of the issue clearly benefited the anti-copyright coalition. This outbalanced personal affiliations of politicians with the copyright groups, made arguments of the anti-SOPA/PIPA camp visible, and contributed to their lobbying victory. Therefore, the raised salience and level of conflict on the issue helped the anti-SOPA/PIPA coalition to succeed on later stages of the policy-making process.

3.3. Characteristics of a Lobbying Group

Features of the involved interest groups had framed the lobbying confrontation around SOPA and PIPA. It became a vivid example of the clash of two powerful blocks prominent in the USA business interests. However, the anti-legislature camp had support of more public advocacy groups and the advantage lobbying for the status quo. Both camps had extensive resources at their disposal. According to the Center for Responsive Politics, the two sides spent over \$100mln on lobbying SOPA and PIPA (Novak, 2012). The copyright groups dramatically outspent the Internet companies both in nominal figures and as a share of their revenues (Herman 2012,

Taglang 2012). The entertainment industries spent on lobbying the bills approximately \$94mln and the Internet corporations about \$15.1mln (Martinez, 2011). For example, among the bills proponents Comcast spent over \$5mln, the Motion Picture Association \$850 000, and the Recording Industry Association \$1.1mln (Taglang, 2012). In the opposition camp, for instance, Google spent over \$3.76mln and Facebook up to \$440 000 on lobbying in October - December 2011 (Taglang, 2012). However, by January 2012 the content industries and Internet companies officially spent more equal sums for the 2012 federal election campaigns: the entertainment groups \$2.5mln and the computer and Internet industry \$1.7mln (Martinez, 2011).

Certainly, the promoting groups had stronger and more extensive ties with policymakers. They more often used services of former public servants and had a longer history of cooperation with policy-makers. However, the wealthy groups of the anti-SOPA/PIPA coalition quickly enlarged their lobbying staff. According to the Center for Responsive Politics, by January 2012 the two business sides were approximatelly even in number of lobbyists working on the issue. The Internet companies hired 246 lobbyists, and the entertainment industry – 241 lobbyists (Novak, 2012). However, the copyright groups had support of more policy-makers who occupied crucial for passage of the bills positions. Therefore, they conducted an inflexible line of lobbying.

Both coalitions brought desirable expert information into the decision-making process. However, the technical arguments of the Internet groups were much more difficult for policy-makers to comprehend. Nevertheless, the expert analysis of consequences of adoption of SOPA/PIPA was indispensable for building their counter-argumentation at the hearings, attracting support of Congressmen and the public. The anti-copyright coalition challenged the credibility of the promoting groups by research which demonstrated the likelihood of deliberate overestimation of the economic losses by the entertainment industries (Sanchez, 2012). However, the assessed underemployed in the entertainment industries remained a very powerful argument for the Congressmen. The anti-copyright groups tried to look more

objective. But the content groups repeatedly questioned the true lobbying motives of the Internet companies in public and at the committee hearings (Kang, 2011).

Therefore, the pro-legislature coalition was originally a stronger lobbying side. But after the Internet companies joined, the opposing coalition outbalanced many advantages of the copyright camp and kept the advantage of easier lobbying for a status quo.

3.4. Performance at Stages of the Policy-Making Process

1. The competing parties performed with different level of success on various stages of lobbying. Both sides formulated their positions on the issue professionally. The promoting groups made very strong political claims about financial losses, underemployment, and continuous violations of law with ramifications to the whole US economy. Illustration of the arguments with impressive empirical data made their position simple, straightforward, and appealing to the Congressmen.

The opposition camp had successfully overcome difficulties in formulating their position in a coherent and attractive to the policy-makers caused by the overall immaturity and diversity of the coalition. The Internet companies, which led the coalition, faced difficulties in convincing the Congressmen of the gravity of their stated concerns. They happened to work with the copyright violators and this made their position vulnerable to attacks of the pushing forces. The technical arguments of the anti-copyright coalition were much more difficult to understand by the policy-makers and referred to the future negative consequences and were less supported by the empirical data of present. Arguments of the academia and public advocacy groups might sound as technical problems, which needed to be addressed while drafting the bills. However, the coalition successfully managed to frame their common concern in a very simple but urging introductory claim – "Stop Censorship". This motto was close to the citizens and mobilized millions of the Internet users.

copyright coalition successfully caught up with their opponents with the issue framing for the purpose of subsequent addressing the policy-makers with a solid position.

2. Performance on targeting public officials ensured the overwhelming dominance of the copyright coalition until the January 18 blackout due to their extended ties with the Congressmen. Moreover, the copyright groups had support of the Congressmen, most important for passage of the bills: all members of the Senate Judiciary Committee and most of members of the House Judiciary Committee (Herman, 2012). The Heads of these committees were powerful allies to dispose the committee members to accept SOPA. The computer and Internet groups had to target policymakers on the copyright issues almost from scratch (Herman, 2012) These groups had to address a much broader net of Congressmen and their staff outside the Judiciary Committees to get political support and shatter conviction of the adversary policymakers (Taglang, 2012). By the end of confrontation, the Congressmen from the Judiciary Committees received signals that the overall Congress support for the bills is not determined. The opposition must have intensively lobbied less adversary to their position members of the House Judiciary Committee. This successful targeting a small group of Representatives was able to stall passage of SOPA. Therefore, welltuned targeting of politicians was vital for lobbying success of the anti-SOPA/PIPA camp.

3. Following the principle of democratic accountability of the US legislature, both lobbying camps were actively building coalitions in support of their positions. The opposing block struggled to gain support of the Congressmen until it gathered a larger coalition including the Internet giants. The expanded coalition allowed the anti-copyright groups to look more representative regarding public interests, strengthen positions of each other, coordinate scaled actions, and signal to policy-makers the direction of development of the political situation around the proposed bills. The shrinking pushing coalition had a depressive effect on the Congressmen supporting the bills and shattered their positions. Therefore, the broader coalition of allies had become a powerful resource for the anti-SOPA/PIPA lobbying side.

4. Both sides used a variety of lobbying tactics. However, the point of crucial difference was that the pro-legislature forces strongly gravitated to inside lobbying tactics while the opposition had to rely more on outside lobbying. Observers argue that the copyright groups implemented their traditional inside lobbying approach which proved efficient in 1990-2000's (Herman 2012, Sell 2013). The opposition had to build an adequate response strategy based on the currently available resources. The entertainment groups had deeply promoted their expert information among different public agencies and politicians, whereas the opposition struggled to make politicians familiarize themselves with their arguments. Accelerated by stronger political ties, this pre-determined more effective presentations by the copyright groups during the debates on the bills and rejection of all amendments proposed by the opposition in Congress.

According to Taglang (2012), the copyright coalition launched campaigns of e-mails and phone calls to the policy-makers. They made numerous visits to the Congressmen in Washington and other states, including about 20 flights of leaders of the National Songwriters Association to Washington. The opposition, especially Internet companies, employed the same inside tactics. However, they were less successful with their prime target - Congressmen and more efficient in the White House. The entertainment lobbies often organized exclusive movie screenings and music concerts for the Congressmen and their staff (Taglang, 2012). However, lobbyists from both camps held fundraising evenings and receptions for the politicians, involved in the copyright issues (Gratten, 2012). Overall, the pushing forces were more successful in implementation of inside lobbying tactics.

However, the copyright coalition failed to sufficiently implement the outside lobbying strategies in comparison with their opponents. The entertainment industries ordered television and print advertisement in several states. They launched information campaign of criticism of the opponents and ensured dry coverage of the protests against the bills in the traditional media. However, those groups were unnoticeable in the cyberspace and had not taken mobilization opportunities of the Internet. In turn, the anti-copyright groups put stakes on the grass-roots mobilization as the inside

lobbying did not promise success. They deployed scaled and continuous information campaigns both in the alien media and in the cyberspace to raise awareness, educate, and mobilize public on the issue. The interest groups used all the channels of Internet communication to deliver their message to public, attract broad masses, and mobilize them for actions. The groups involved public in an interactive dialogue, empathetically urged them to participate in the planned mass activities, and facilitated algorithms of the actions needed from Internet users. The anti-copyright coalition ensured participation of the most popular Internet companies in the online protest campaigns to attract huge masses. Therefore, taking advantage of the lobbying mistakes of the copyright coalition, the opposing groups much more successfully supplemented inside lobbying with grass-roots mobilization. And it was the outside lobbying strategies, especially public mobilization on January 18, which brought the lobbying victory to the anti-SOPA/PIPA coalition.

5. The probability of lobbying success was higher for the copyright coalition in terms of their presence at each stage of the decision-making process on the bills. In turn, the opposition lost the first phase of the lobbying confrontation due to insufficient attention to the situation from Internet companies, which later headed the opposition. Therefore, the chosen strategy of the copyright groups to promote discussion and adoption the bills in Congress as quickly as possible put them in a favorable position. The opposition had to intensify their lobbying efforts after introduction of SOPA in Congress to make up for lost time and political influence. However, the pro-SOPA/PIPA coalition seemed to lose a comprehensive understanding of the situation by the end of the lobbying confrontation. They did not sufficiently employ the mass mobilization tactics, which exerted a decisive influence on the Congressmen. The development of events was surprising for that coalition and they had not given an adequately strong response to it. Therefore, the anti-copyright camp seized the political initiative what significantly contributed to their lobbying success.

Thus, the anti-copyright coalition successfully overcame difficulties in framing their position in an appealing view and targeting a group of Congressmen to block passage of the bills. The anti-SOPA/PIPA camp built a more extended coalition, used their ties

with the executive branch, and mobilized a huge mass of population to protest against the bills. This passed the political initiative in their hands and convinced many democratically accountable Congressmen to step back from support of the unpopular bills.

Conclusion

This paper has considered the factors which determined the lobbying victory of the groups which opposed passage SOPA and PIPA in the American Congress. This thesis has distinguished four categories of factors, which mostly influence the lobbying outcomes in the USA, such as characteristics of the political system, regulations on lobbying, characteristics of an issue and a lobbying group, and competent performance at critical stages of the lobbying process. The examination of the lobbying confrontation revealed significant influence of all four categories of factors on lobbying SOPA/PIPA, which either contributed to or impeded lobbying success of the anti-copyright coalition.

The beginning of the lobbying confrontation turned in favor of the promoting groups. As lobbyists they had more extended political ties, plentiful resources and the record of generous contributions made for political campaigns of politicians, and consolidated lobbying alliance. The anti-copyright coalition had to rely primarily on grass-roots mobilization via the Internet and hasty building of coalition and relationships with the policy-makers, regardless the costs of lobbying. Therefore, the findings of this thesis confirm the widely acknowledged reasons of the lobbying victory by the opponents to the bills.

However, this research reveals that many of the factors, distinguished in the theoretical section, also significantly benefited the position of the anti-copyright coalition. Influence of these aspects of lobbying has been broadly omitted in earlier research by other authors. First of all, this research finds that anti-SOPA/PIPA groups have followed the initially easier route of lobbying within the American political system, what is to preserve a status quo. Secondly, they ensured political support for their position by creating a larger and more representative coalition and achieving support of the White House. Finally, over time of development of the lobbying confrontation the anti-SOPA/PIPA groups outbalanced many initial advantages of the promoting groups. This included successful targeting a group of Congressmen to stall

passage of the bills and investment of much more resources in lobbying. Also, the increased issue salience and level of conflict on the copyright issue allowed the anticopyright groups to change the course of events. The groups successfully overrode fragmentation of interests within their coalition and presented the joint position in a more appealing to public slogan.

These identified in the thesis aspects of lobbying by the anti-copyright groups allowed them to successfully apply the outside lobbying tactics, primarily via the Internet, to mobilize broad masses to protest against SOPA and PIPA. In accordance with the previous studies this paper considers those public protest campaigns to be the watershed moments in the lobbying confrontation when the promoting groups were gradually losing political initiative. However, this research underlines that the success of the grass-roots mobilization campaigns has resulted from a competent performance of the lobbying coalition on previous stages of lobbying. And the lobbying process, in turn, was influenced by the enumerated above institutional factors, characteristics of the issue, and the lobbying coalition.

Nevertheless, the research of this contemporary case of lobbying confrontation demonstrates that now lobbying in the USA is undergoing significant changes. The copyright coalition was defeated despite keeping of all the advantages, which determined the lobbying success in 1990-2000's. But the Internet technologies have profoundly changed the political environment and communications in society. Therefore, today any successful lobbying campaign needs to ensure its visibility and public support in the Internet as well. The anti-SOPA/PIPA groups have eloquently illustrated this shift in lobbying in the USA, taking a huge advantage of the relative absence of the copyright coalition in the cyberspace. Therefore, the lobbying confrontation around SOPA and PIPA have indicated that political lobbying in the USA has entered a new epoch when active incorporation of the Internet technologies is a necessary tactic of a successful lobbying campaign.

References

- American University Washington College of Law. 2013. The Revolving Door. The IP Enforcement Research Database. URL: <u>https://sites.google.com/site/iipenforcement/the-revolving-door</u>, accessed on June 1, 2013.
- 2. Anderson, Nate. 2011. At Web censorship hearing, Congress guns for "propirate" Google. ArcTechnica. URL: <u>http://arstechnica.com/techpolicy/2011/11/at-web-censorship-hearing-congress-guns-for-pro-pirate-</u> <u>google/</u>, accessed on May 21, 2013.
- 3. Aol Inc. et al. Letter to Congress. November 15, 2011.URL: <u>http://politechbot.com/docs/sopa.google.facebook.twitter.letter.111511.pdf</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 4. Avner, Marcia. 2002. The Lobbying and Advocacy Handbook for Non-Profit Organizations: Shaping Public Policy at the State and Local Level. Minnesota Council of Nonprofits.
- 5. Baumgartner, Frank and Christine Mahoney. 2004. Social Movements and the Rise of New Issues / Routine the Opposition: Social Movements, Public policy and Democracy, ed. by Helen Ingram, Valerie Jenness, and David S. Meyer, pp. 65-86. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- 6. Berry, Jeffrey M. 1997. The Interest Group Society, third edition. Longman Publishung Groups.
- Bridy, Annemarie. 2012. Copyright Policymaking as Procedural Democratic Process: A Discourse-Theoretic Perspective on ACTA, SOPA, and PIPA. Cardozo Arts & Entertainment Law Journal, 30(2). URL: <u>http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2042787</u>, accessed on June 1, 2013.
- 8. Brigham, Geoff. 2011. How SOPA will Hurt the Free Web and Wikipedia. Wikimedia Blog. URL: <u>https://blog.wikimedia.org/2011/12/13/how-sopa-will-hurt-the-free-web-and-wikipedia/</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 9. Carter, Douglass. 1964. Power in Washington. New York: Random House.
- 10. Committee on the Judiciary. 2011. Hearing on: H.R. 3261, the "Stop Online Piracy Act". URL: <u>http://judiciary.house.gov/hearings/hear_11162011.html</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 11. Connolly, Mary V. 2012. Sopa, Pipa, the OPEN Act: Where is This Going. Proceedings of the 2012 ASCUE Summer Conference. URL: <u>http://www.ascue.org/files/proceedings/2012/2012-final.pdf</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 12. Dahl, Robert. 1961. Who Governs? New Haven: Yale University Press.
- 13. Disclosure of Federal Campaign Funds. 2013. The U.S. Code, Chapter 14, Subchapter I / Legal Information Institute. URL: <u>http://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/2/chapter-14/subchapter-I</u>, accessed on May 29, 2013.
- 14. Downes, Larry. 2012. Who Really Stopped SOPA and Why? Forbes. URL: http://www.forbes.com/sites/larrydownes/2012/01/25/who-really-stoppedsopa-and-why/, accessed on June 1, 2013.
- 15. Eschoo, Anna G. et al. 2011. Open Letter. URL: http://politechbot.com/docs/sopa.house.opponents.letter.111511.pdf, accessed

on May 25, 2013.

- 16. Espinel, Victoria et al. 2012. Obama Administration Responds to We the People Petitions on SOPA and Online Piracy. The White House Blog. URL: <u>https://petitions.whitehouse.gov/response/combating-online-piracy-while-protecting-open-and-innovative-internet</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 17. Falcon, Ernesto. 2012. PIPA's January 24th Vote and How a Filibuster Works. Public Knowledge. URL: <u>http://publicknowledge.org/blog/pipa</u> <u>%E2%80%99s-january-24th-vote-and-how-filibuster-w</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 18. Fight for the Future. 2011. American Sencorship Day: Nov. 16, 2011. URL: <u>http://americancensorship.org/</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 19. Fight for the Future(2). 2012. Sopa Timeline. URL: <u>http://sopastrike.com/timeline</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 20. Fight for the Future(3). 2012. THe January 18 Blackout/Strike: In Numbers and Screenshots. URL: <u>http://sopastrike.com/numbers</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 21. Forbes, Steve. 2012. Don't Soft-Soap SOPA. Forbes. URL: <u>http://www.forbes.com/sites/steveforbes/2012/01/25/dont-soft-soap-sopa/</u>, accessed on June 1, 2013.
- 22. FoxNews.com. 2012. Exclusive: Chris Dodd warns of Hollywood backlash against Obama over anti-piracy bill. URL: http://www.foxnews.com/politics/2012/01/19/exclusive-hollywood-lobbyist-threatens-to-cut-off-obama-2012-money-over-anti/, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 23. Franzen, Carl. 2012. How The Web Killed SOPA and PIPA. TPMIdeaLab. URL: <u>http://idealab.talkingpointsmemo.com/2012/01/how-the-web-killed-sopa-and-pipa.php</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 24. GoDaddy.com. 2011. Go Daddy No Longer Supports SOPA. URL: <u>http://www.godaddy.com/news/article/go-daddy-no-longer-supports-</u><u>sopa.aspx</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 25. Goldstein, Kenneth. 1999. Interest Groups, Lobbying, and Participation in America. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- 26. Google Inc. 2012. Lobbying Report. URL: http://soprweb.senate.gov/index.cfm? event=getFilingDetails&filingID=E4619AED-86DA-4110-8F1A-5DECDE07F4BF&filingTypeID=60, accessed on June 1, 2013.
- 27. Gratten, La Toya. 2012. SOPA Fundraisers. Political Party Time, Sunlight Foundation. URL: <u>http://politicalpartytime.org/blog/2012/01/27/sopa-fundraisers/</u>, accessed on June 1, 2013.
- 28. Gross, Grant. 2011. House Committee Appears Headed Toward Approving SOPA. PCWorld. URL: http://www.pcworld.com/article/246354/house committee appears headed to ward approving sopa.html, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 29. Gross, Grant. 2012. Issa introduces SOPA alternative in the House. Macworld. URL:

http://www.macworld.com/article/1164886/issa introduces sopa alternative i <u>n the house.html</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.

30. Gross, Grant. 2012. Who Really Was Behind the SOPA Protests? PCWorld. URL:

http://www.pcworld.com/article/249270/who_really_was_behind_the_sopa_pr

40

otests.html, accessed on June 1, 2013.

- 31. H.R. 3261 (112th): Stop Online Piracy Act. October 26, 2011. (112th Congress, 2011–2013). Govtrack.us. URL: http://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/112/hr3261, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 32. H.R. 3782 (112th): Online Protection and Enforcement of Digital Trade Act. Jan 18, 2012. (112th Congress, 2011–2013). Govtrack.us. URL: <u>http://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/112/hr3782</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 33. Hall, Richard. 1998. Lobbying as Informational Subsidy. Annual meeting of the Midwest Political Association, Chicago.
- 34. Heinz, John, Edward Laumann, Robert H. Salisbury, and Robert Nelson. 1990. Inner Circles or Hollow Cores? Elite Networks in National Policy Systems. Journal of Politics, 52(3), pp. 56-90.
- 35. Herman, Bill D. 2012. A Political History of DRM and Related Copyright Debates, 1987-2012. Yale Journal of Law and Technology, 14(2). URL: http://digitalcommons.law.yale.edu/yjolt/vol14/iss1/2/? utm_source=digitalcommons.law.yale.edu%2Fyjolt %2Fvol14%2Fiss1%2F2&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPag es, accessed on May 18, 2013.
- 36. Hojnacki, Marie and David S. Kimball. 1998. Organized Interests and the Decision of Whom to Lobby in Congress. American Political Science Review, 92(7), pp. 75-90.
- 37. Hula, Kevin. 1995. Rounding Up the Usual Suspects: Forging Interest Group Coalitions / Interest Groups Politics, ed. by Allan Cigler and Burdett A. Loomis, pp. 39-58. Washington, D.C.: CQ Press.
- 38. Israel, Josh. Jan 18, 2012. CHART: Who Is Lobbying For And Against The Protect IP Act. Think Progress. URL: http://thinkprogress.org/politics/2012/01/18/406397/chart-who-is-lobbyingfor-and-against-the-protect-ip-act/, , accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 39. Kang, Cecilia. 2011. SOPA, Controversial Online Piracy Bill, GainsSupport as Lobbying Intensifies. Washington Post. URL: <u>http://articles.washingtonpost.com/2011-11-16/business/35282219_1_online-piracy-web-giants-web-firms</u>, accessed on June 1, 2013.
- 40. Kim, Young Mie and Mike McCluskey. 2009. Revisiting the Myth of Outside Lobbying: Information Technology, Group Strategies, and News Media Coverage. American Political Science Association. URL: <u>http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1466818</u>, accessed on April 29, 2013.
- 41. Kim, Young Mie and Seong-Jae Min. 2008. Choosing the Right Media for Mobilization: Understanding Issue Advocacy Groups' Media Choice Strategies. AEJMC Conference. URL: <u>http://www.comm.ohiostate.edu/ahayes/cops/aejmc%20papers/min_kim.pdf</u>, accessed on April 29, 2013.
- 42. Kollman, Ken. 1998. Outside Lobbying: Public Opinion and Interest groups Strategies. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- 43. Lemley, Mark A. et al. 2011. An Open Letter to the House of Representatives. URL: <u>http://politechbot.com/docs/sopa.law.professor.letter.111511.pdf</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 44. Mahoney, Christine. 2008. Brussels versus the Beltway Advocacy in the United States and the European Union. Georgetown University Press, Washington, D.C.

- 45. Martinez, Jennifer. 2012. SOPA and PIPA dead, for now. Politico. URL: <u>http://www.politico.com/news/stories/0112/71720.html</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 46. Martinez, Jennifer. November 16, 2011. Shootout at the digital corral. Politico. URL: <u>http://dyn.politico.com/printstory.cfm?uuid=DBA81D15-471C-48D4-8515-80A9BECFD55A</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 47. McCarty, Nolan and Lawrence Rothenberg. 1996. Commitment and the Campaign Contribution Contrast. American Journal of Political Science, 40, pp. 872-904.
- 48. McCullagh, Declan. November 15, 2011. Google, Facebook, Zynga oppose new SOPA copyright bill. CNet. URL: <u>http://news.cnet.com/8301-31921 3-57325134-281/google-facebook-zynga-oppose-new-sopa-copyright-bill/</u>, accessed on May 21, 2013.
- 49. McKissik, Garry. 1995. Interests, Issues, and Emphases: Lobbying Congress and the Strategic Manipulation of Issue Dimensions. Annual meeting of the Midwest Political Association, Chicago.
- 50. McSherry, Corynne. 2011. SOPA: Hollywood Finally Gets a Chance to Break the Internet. Electronic Frontier Foundation. URL: https://www.eff.org/deeplinks/2011/10/sopa-hollywood-finally-gets-chancebreak-internet, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 51. Melvin, Jasmin. 2011. Google Argues Against U.S. Anline Piracy Bill. Reuters. URL: <u>http://in.reuters.com/article/2011/11/17/idINIndia-60573520111117</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 52. Mills, Wright. 1956. The Power Elite. New York: Oxford University Press.
- 53. Motion Picture Association of America, Inc. 2011. MPAA Statement on Strong Showing of Support for Stop Online Piracy Act. URL: <u>http://www.mpaa.org/resources/5a0a212e-c86b-4e9a-abf1-2734a15862cd.pdf</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 54. Nancy Pelosi. 2011. Twitter. URL: https://twitter.com/NancyPelosi/statuses/137234283667537920, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 55. Netburn, Deborah. 2012. Google says 4.5 million people signed anti-SOPA petition today. Los Angeles Times. URL: <u>http://latimesblogs.latimes.com/technology/2012/01/google-anti-sopa-petition.html</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 56. NetCoalition et al. 2011. Letter to Members of the House of Representatives. MCN. URL: <u>http://moviecitynews.com/2011/10/netcoalition-cea-and-ccia-respond-to-members-of-congress-on-stop-online-piracy-act/</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 57. Nguyen, Dan. 2012. SOPA Opera Update: Opposition Surges. ProPublica. URL: <u>http://www.propublica.org/nerds/item/sopa-opera-update</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 58. Nguyen, Dan. 2012. SOPA Opera: Where Do Your Members of Congress Stand on SOPA and PIPA? ProPublica. URL: <u>http://projects.propublica.org/sopa/index.html</u>, accessed on June 1, 2013.
- 59. Novak, Viveca. 2012. SOPA and PIPA Spur Lobbying Spike. Center for Responsive Politics. URL: <u>http://www.opensecrets.org/news/2012/01/sopa-and-pipa-create-lobbying-spike.html</u>, accessed on June 1, 2013.
- 60. O'Brien, Chris. 2012. O'Brien: SOPA Defeat a Victory for Tech, but Influence will Remain Muted. MercuryNews.com. URL:

http://www.mercurynews.com/chris-obrien/ci 19812927, accessed on June 1, 2013.

- 61. Office of the Clerk. 2013. Lobbying Disclosure Act Guidance / the US House of Representatives. URL: <u>http://lobbyingdisclosure.house.gov/amended_lda_guide.html</u>, accessed_on May 29, 2013.
- 62. Petri, Alexandra. 2011. The Nightmarish SOPA Hearings. Washington Post. URL: <u>http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/compost/post/the-nightmarish-sopa-hearings/2011/12/15/gIQA47RUwO_blog.html</u>, accessed on June 1, 2013.
- 63. Plumer, Brad. 2011. Everything You Need to Know About Congress's Online Piracy Bills, in One Post. Washington Post. URL: <u>http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/wonkblog/post/everything-you-need-to-know-about-congresss-online-piracy-bills-in-one-post/2011/12/16/gIQAz4ggyO blog.html</u>, accessed on June 1, 2013.
- 64. Public Knowledge. Who We Are. 2013. URL: <u>http://www.publicknowledge.org/about/who</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 65. Romer, Thomas and James M. Snyder. 1994. An Empirical Investigation of the Dynamics of PAC Contributions. American Journal of Political Science, 38(7), pp. 45-69.
- 66. Rothenberg, Lawrence. 1988. Organizational Maintenance and the Retention Decosion in Groups. American Political Science Review, 82, pp. 29-52.
- 67. Rules of The House of Representatives / House of Representatives Committee on Ethics. 2013. URL: <u>http://clerk.house.gov/legislative/house-rules.pdf</u>, accesed on May 12, 2013.
- 68. S. 2029 (112th): Online Protection and Enforcement of Digital Trade Act. December 17, 2011 (112th Congress, 2011–2013). Govtrack.us. URL: <u>http://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/112/s2029#overview</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 69. S. 968 (112th): Preventing Real Online Threats to Economic Creativity and Theft of Intellectual Property Act of 2011. May 12, 2011 (112th Congress, 2011–2013). Govtrack.us. URL: http://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/112/s968, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 70. Salibury, Robert H. 1969. An Exchange Theory of Interest Groups. Midwest Journal of Political Science, 13(1). URL: <u>http://www1.spa.american.edu/ccps/pdf_files/exchangetheory.pdf</u>, accessed on May 29, 2013.
- 71. Sanchez, Julian. 2012. How Copyright Industries Con Congress. CATO Institute. URL: <u>http://www.cato.org/blog/how-copyright-industries-con-</u><u>congress</u>, accessed on June 1, 2013.
- 72. Scholzman, Kay Leman and John Tierney. 1986. Organized Interests and American Democracy. New York: Harper and Row.
- 73. Sell, Susan K. 2010. The rise and rule of a trade-based strategy: Historical institutionalism and the international regulation of intellectual property. Review of International Political Economy, 17(4), pp. 762-790. URL: <u>http://themonkeycage.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/10/sell.pdf</u>, accessed on May 18, 2013.
- 74. Sell, Susan K. 2013. Revenge of the "Nerds": Collective Action against Intellectual Property Maximalism in the Global Information Age. International Studies Review, 15, pp. 67–85. URL:

http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/misr.12021/full, accessed on May 18, 2013.

- 75. Senate Code of Official Conduct / U.S. Senate Select Committee on Ethics. 2008. URL: <u>http://www.ethics.senate.gov/public/index.cfm/files/serve?</u> <u>File_id=efa7bf74-4a50-46a5-bb6f-b8d26b9755bf</u>, accesed on May 12, 2013.
- 76. Sherman, Cary H. 2012. What Wikipedia Won't Tell You. The New York Times, OP-ED. URL: <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2012/02/08/opinion/what-wikipedia-wont-tell-you.html?_r=0</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 77. Smith, Dana. 2011. Piracy is Bad for Business, But So is SOPA. Public Knowledge. URL: <u>http://publicknowledge.org/blog/piracy-bad-business-so-sopa</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 78. Smith, Lamar. List of Supporters: H.R. 3261, the Stop Online Piracy Act. United States Judiciary Committee. URL: <u>https://docs.google.com/viewer?</u> <u>a=v&q=cache:Iqvu-xQP77EJ:judiciary.house.gov/issues/Rogue</u> %2520Websites/List%2520of%2520SOPA %2520Supporters.pdf+&hl=en&gl=us&pid=bl&srcid=ADGEESg0oCVA4hm <u>p-4nqUR1Uddu-</u> VOeYCMHj1NxjckCTPIQ7vtbDdiQn1is8ThqEsYn1lOOmtsK9N2aHSeI7Z MVwqmGuRBvb0zYcvVkzFx24r02uZkb1vrX2v2_0QNL0iA-QmoJeP_bO&sig=AHIEtbSdnMcencdkTTXQMM-L7PxwqHaf3Q&pli=1, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 79. Taglang, Kevin. 2012. A Look at Lobbying in the Wake of SOPA/PIPA. Benton Foundation. URL: <u>http://benton.org/node/111709</u>, accessed on June 1, 2013.
- 80. Taylor, Colleen. 2012. Taking SOPA/PIPA to the streets: Protests on for SF, NYC. Gigaom. URL: <u>http://gigaom.com/2012/01/17/sopa-pipa-city-protests-rally-meetups/</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 81. The Union of Concerned Scientists. 2013. The U.S. Legislative Process. URL: <u>http://www.ucsusa.org/action/the-us-legislative-process.html</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 82. The US Office of Government Ethics. 2013. Restrictions on former officers, employees, and elected officials of the executive and legislative branches. The US Code, 18, § 207. URL: <u>http://www.oge.gov/displaytemplates/statutesregulationsdetail.aspx?id=309</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 83. Truman, David. 1951. The Governmental Process: Political Interests and Public Opinion. New York: Alfred A. Knopf.
- 84. Tsukayama, Hayley. December 20, 2011. SOPA online piracy bill markup postponed. The Washington Post. URL: http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/post-tech/post/sopa-online-piracy-billmarkup-postponed/2011/12/20/gIQA6s7a7O_blog.html, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 85. United States Government Accountability Office. 2010. Intellectual Property, Observations on Efforts to Quantify the Economic Effects of Counterfeit and Pirated Goods / Report to Congressional Committees. URL: <u>http://www.gao.gov/new.items/d10423.pdf</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.
- 86. Verrier, Richard. 2011. Senate Judiciary Committee Approves Anti-Piracy Bill. Los Angeles Times. URL: <u>http://articles.latimes.com/2011/may/27/business/la-fi-ct-piracy-bill-</u> 20110527, accessed on May 21, 2013.

- 87. Wadhwa, Vivek. 2012. Social Media's Role in Politics. The Washington Post. URL: <u>http://www.washingtonpost.com/national/on-innovations/social-medias-role-in-politics/2012/01/25/gIQAQvZgdQ_story_1.html</u>, accessed on June 1, 2013.
- 88. Walker, Jack. 1983. The Origins and Maintenance of Interest Groups in America. American Political Science Review, 77, pp. 390-406.
- 89. Weisman, Jonathan. 2012. In fight Over Piracy Bills, New Economy Rises Against Old. The New York Times. URL: <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2012/01/19/technology/web-protests-piracy-bill-and-2-key-senators-change-course.html?pagewanted=all& r=0</u>, accessed on June 1, 2013.
- 90. Wikipedia. 2012. List of Organizations with Official Stances on the SOPA and PIPA. URL: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List of organizations with official stances on the SOPA and PIPA, accessed on June 1, 2013.
- 91. Wittenberg, Ernest and Elisabeth Wittenberg. 1994. How to Win in Washington: Very Practical Advice About Lobbying the Grassroots and the Media, 2nd edition. Oxford: Blackwell Publishers.
- 92. Wyden, Ron. 2011. Wyden Places Hold on Protect IP Act / Press Releases. URL: <u>http://www.wyden.senate.gov/news/press-releases/wyden-places-hold-on-protect-ip-act</u>, accessed on May 25, 2013.